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DR. ELSAYED:  Good morning, everyone.  My name is Emad Elsayed, and I will be providing over this proceeding today.  With me on the Panel are my fellow Board members, Rumina Velshi to my left and Michael Janigan.

We are sitting here today on the matter of an application filed by Hydro One Remotes for approval for changes to its electricity distribution rates effective May 1st, 2018.  The Board assigned this application file number EB-2017-0051.

A settlement proposal was filed by Hydro One Remotes on February 22nd.  According to the settlement proposal all issues were settled by the parties, with the exception of issue 5.4, which states:
"Is the plan for First Nation relations appropriate and adequately explained?"

On March 16th, Hydro One Remotes filed a settlement proposal amendment, which included a proposed settlement for issue 5.4.

The purpose of this hearing is for Hydro One Remotes to present the settlement proposal, as well as the amendment.  Because OEB Staff did not have the opportunity to make a submission on the amendment, we will provide for OEB Staff to ask questions about it.  This is to be followed by questions from the Panel on both the settlement proposal and the amendment.

May I have appearances, please.
Appearances:


MR. ENGELBERG:  Good morning, Mr. Chair, members of the Panel.  I am Michael Engelberg.  I am counsel for Hydro One Remote Communities Inc.  I have with me Jeffrey Smith to my right, Kraemer Coulter, and Una O'Reilly to my left.  I'd like them to introduce themselves and give their positions, because they may be answering questions when the Panel asks questions.

MR. SMITH:  My name is Jeffrey Smith.  I'm with the regulatory division with Hydro One, and I was -- helped facilitate and pull together both the proposals, settlement, and the amendment.

MR. COULTER:  Hi, and I'm Kraemer Coulter, managing director of Hydro One Remote Communities.

MS. O'REILLY:  I'm Una O'Reilly, manager of business integration, Hydro One Remote Communities.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.

MR. YAUCH:  Good morning, Panel, is it is Brady Yauch.  I am a consultant with Energy Probe Research Foundation.

DR. ELSAYED:  Good morning.

MR. BOILEAU:  Good morning, everyone, my name is Patrick Boileau.  I'm an advisor to Opiikapawiin Services.  It is owned by 22 First Nations Partnership.

DR. ELSAYED:  Good morning.

MS. CHOW:  Good morning, Jennifer Chow, articling student for counsel to VECC.

DR. ELSAYED:  Good morning.

MR. MILLAR:  Good morning, Mr. Chair, members of the Panel.  Michael Millar, counsel for Board Staff, and with me today is Mr. Khalil Viraney.

DR. ELSAYED:  Good morning.  Any preliminary matters?
Preliminary Matters:


MR. YAUCH:  We'd like to make a few comments on the amended settlement.  I don't know if it's -- could do that now or if you want to ask questions first.  I didn't know how you wanted to --


DR. ELSAYED:  No, you go ahead.

MR. YAUCH:  Okay.  So Energy Probe supports the amended settlement.  Obviously we support the original settlement, but the amended settlement that was filed on Friday, we support it, but we have a couple of concerns that we wanted to raise to the Board about the settlement and how it was reached.

So our first concern was the process in which that amendment was ultimately proposed and reached.

Our second concern is the value of the new cost associated with the amendment.  None of it has been tested in evidence, so we're not really clear on if there is a lot of value for ratepayers in these new costs, but before I get to those two issues I want to say that we recognize that Hydro One Remotes is a bit of a different beast when it comes to regulatory proceedings.  It is a debt finance that funnels its cost to the RRRP, and it has some social issues that you don't see in other utilities, so we took all those into consideration before we raised our concerns and ultimately reached a settlement.

But first, when -- there was a settlement conference in which all the parties in this proceeding were at.  There were two days of detailed discussions, there were updated exhibits, there was negotiations.  The two parties to that settlement reached an agreement with Remotes, and Board Staff, which was there the whole time, ultimately supported that agreement.

That agreement produced real cost savings for ratepayers across the province who fund most of Remote's operations, they don't collect it from rates.

The reductions weren't a slash-and-burn job I think sometimes people push for, they were based on looking at a detailed examination of Remote's recent budgets and whether they were able to reach their assumptions and so on and so forth.

All the up -- almost all the reductions are based on updated evidence on what Hydro One actually spent in 2007 and what they were going to propose to spend in 2008, so we look at the most recent performance of the utility and try to base the rates going forward on that performance.

So it became clear in many cases that Hydro One either wasn't able or wasn't willing, we don't know, to spend the money that they had actually budgeted for, so in the original settlement agreement a lot of the reductions were based on sort of updated evidence.

So ultimately an agreement was reached.  It saved ratepayers across the province millions of dollars over each year annually over the next five years.

Then after-the-fact an amendment was reached between Hydro One and OSLP on new costs, and the other two parties that settled the original settlement agreement weren't actually privy to any of the discussions based on those figures.

And the new costs are almost $500,000 a year, which is about 1 percent of Hydro One Remote's operating budget, so a significant update was added without the two parties -- the original settlement having really any say in those costs.

None of the parties other than OSLP Remotes were part of those discussions, even though neither Remotes or OSLP members actually pay any of those costs, because they will be funded from the RRRP, so for that doesn't really pass the regulatory smell test that there is a significant amount of new costs presented.  The two parties that agreed to those costs don't actually pay for them.  The two parties that do pay for those costs really didn't have any say in them, so we have some concerns about the regulatory process that produced this result.

Our second point, which may be addressed today -- I understand the Panel has questions -- is that the evidentiary record or support for these new costs is slim, to say the least.

Yes, Hydro One Remotes has provided some comments on what these costs are and what they're going to do, but there's been really no evidence, no interrogatories, none of the regulatory steps that normally happen for new costs, now that has actually been undertaken, so we are a bit concerned about that as well.

But, you know, ultimately we did support the amendment.  We felt the regulatory process had been going on long enough, and we were concerned that if we opposed the amendment that we -- it wasn't clear to us whether that would then throw out the whole original deal, and we felt that there was a significant risk to doing that as well, so we ultimately supported the amendment, but we did have some concerns, and I wanted the Board it know.  That's all I have to say on that.

DR. ELSAYED:  Mr. Engelberg, do you want to respond?

MR. ENGELBERG:  Mr. Chair, we do have staff here from Hydro One Remote Communities that can answer any questions that my friends or the Panel may have, but I must say I am somewhat disappointed with Mr. Yauch's submission.

It is true that the party, OSLP, who originally suggested having an additional staff member put that to Hydro One Remote Communities after the settlement conference, and the parties had discussions.  But the costs and the changes that the change would make to the overall package was exchanged with all the intervenors, including Mr. Yauch and his client, so it is rather unusual, I would submit, for somebody to come here and say, 'We support the settlement,' but then it sounds like, 'We support the settlement, but we weren't happy at how the settlement was reached.'  My submission would be that there is either a settlement or there isn't, but since we're all here today and we have people who can answer any questions, I would submit that we should go ahead and do that, but it is really kind of a hybrid submission to say, 'We support the settlement, but we don't like how we got there, but we do support the settlement.'

DR. ELSAYED:  I just want to say that I guess on the one hand, just reading from the amendment, it does say on the first page that the amendment is supported by Energy Probe and VECC.  So we took it at face value that that's what happened, obviously.

MR. ENGELBERG:  As did we, Mr. Chair.

MR. ELSAYED:  Yes, and so it is, I have to say, a bit concerning to me.  For one thing, of course the amendment came on Friday and then we hear today, this morning, that there is an issue.

We would have an opportunity during the hearing.  We do, probably the Panel as well as maybe Staff, have questions about the settlement proposal and the amendment. And when we come to that, I mean, if there are any questions we can have you address them.  But just to confirm, Mr. Yauch, is that -- are you saying that you were concerned about the process, but nevertheless you support the amendment, just to be clear?

MR. YAUCH:  Yes.  I can explain it a bit more that I've been part of many settlement agreements, and I've never seen one actually go like this where two parties to the settlement negotiated it and then presented it to everyone else without having really any say.

So yes, there were numbers presented to us initially, but they were different than what was ultimately presented as the final offer.  So we weren't part of the negotiations that got to that number.

So yes, we'll agree to it.  But I think the Board should maybe be cognizant that the way in which this deal was reached was not how they're normally reached amongst parties to settlement conferences.

MR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  We will proceed with our process and deal with that issue when it comes up.  Maybe to start, if we can have -- we already had the panel introduced.  So if we could just have them affirmed and then we'll proceed with the presentation.

Perhaps if -- like I mean, we can either stay there, or we can have them in the witness-box, I guess.  Is there -- it doesn't matter.  They can stay there.

MR. JANIGAN:  Stay there, okay.

We can take the oath where you're sitting.

I am going to administer to all three at the same time.
HYDRO ONE REMOTE COMMUNITIES INC. - PANEL 1

Jeffrey Smith, 

Kraemer Coulter, 

Una O'Reilly; Affirmed


MR. ELSAYED:  With that, maybe you can proceed with the presentation.  Are you using any visual aids?  Or how are you making the presentation?

MR. ENGELBERG:  We are not using visual aids today, but we do have some updates.

I guess I would like to ask the Panel first if you would like some background about Hydro One Remote Communities and its unique structure, as was mentioned by Mr. Yauch.  I think that the Panel is likely familiar with that, but I am willing to give some background if you would like to hear.

MR. ELSAYED:  No, I think we're fine.  Thank you.
Presentation of the Settlement Agreement by Mr. Engelberg:


MR. ENGELBERG:  All right.  Well, as Mr. Yauch pointed out, a settlement was reached on all issues at the settlement conference, other than issue 5.4.

After that settlement day, which OSLP did not attend, was not able to attend, OSLP requested a change and OSLP and Remotes then had discussions as to what changes that would make to the settlement, not only to the issue 5.4, but what effect, if any, it would have on any of the other items.

Those discussions took place.  The revised numbers were put to the other intervenors, including Mr. Yauch's client, and there was back and forth during the week last week and a settlement was finally reached on all issues on Friday.  I think probably the best person to put the settlement to the Panel and to the intervenors here would be Mr. Smith.

If you would go ahead and do that, I would appreciate it.
Presentation by Mr. Smith:


MR. SMITH:  Again, I would ask the Panel, we can go through each issue.

Sorry, I would ask the Panel what's their preference.  We can go through each issue individually. However, in appendix A, on both the settlement and the amendment, which is the very last sheet, contains -- what we thought was helpful was a small table of the numbers.  So for proficiency, rather than dispense with all the details of every single issue, we can go through the costs and answer any questions related to the issue from that.  Is that okay?

MR. ELSAYED:  Yes, please.

MR. SMITH:  Looking at appendix A, and if I could take you to the actual settlement proposal, appendix A.  So that would have been filed on the 22nd of February, entered as Exhibit J, tab 1, schedule 1, page 48.

Issue 1.1 was the capital.  Originally, Remotes filed for 2.236 million and through the settlement process, we agreed to a 10 percent reduction, which is 323,000.

1.2(a); we, again for efficiency, lumped that in into a set of OM&A costs, and you can see them there.  There was distribution, maintenance, forestry, general maintenance and general operations included in 1.2(a) and did I have a couple of corrections under the generation maintenance row.  It currently says 11.392 on your copy.  That should be 11.640. And generation operations currently says 4.819 million, and that should be 4.919 million.

So our apologies for those typos, but they are -- the numbers throughout agree with those corrected numbers.

So collectively, 1.2(a) was the OM&A costs on maintenance and operations.  And through the settlement process, we were able to agree on a flat $1.5 million reduction across the board.

That, I think, suited the parties best because it was a substantial reduction, yet allowed management of Remotes to manage those costs without trying to be too specific on where to reduce costs.  So it was a flat 1.5 across those areas.

1.2(b) is the fuel cost which, as you can plainly see, is the largest single cost of Remotes, is the fuel and transportation there of 27.6 million.  There is a $1.7 million reduction in that.  Primarily, that reduction is really an update of the variables and the assumptions used to cost out the diesel fuel.

On CDM, we had 112,000 in the original application and we negotiated a $51,000 reduction.  I think, as Mr. Yauch pointed out, it was a -- frankly, it was a good discussion and good conference, and one of the things we were able to do was look at some the past budgets as he eluded, and together we agreed that that would be an appropriate number going-forward, with the $51,000 reduction.

Similarly, regulatory costs; we had 90,000.  We agreed to -- instead of 90,000 per year because, as the Panel is aware, this was the test year cost which would carry on an annual basis thereafter.  So the 90,000 we had in a single year, we agreed to spread that over the five years.  So it would be 90 divided by 5 per year, which therefore adds up to a $72,000 reduction.

Bad debt; again, going through with our friend's during the conference, we looked at bad debt and Remotes has done a fine job over the past five years in lowering their arrears cost and bad debt, and we were able to agree to a 60,000 reduction on a $60,000 ask.  Therefore, we agreed to zero bad debt expense over the five years.

Pension cost; the application sought 687,000.  The intervenors at the conference expressed a concern that the pension cost would match what was actually paid by Remotes because there is a process, as you are probably aware, the pension costs of Remotes are administered by Hydro and Networks, and we discussed to share with them that the costs are, I'll say, given to Remotes by Networks.

And the concern was that 687,000 may go into the test year funding and therefore, be in place for five years, whereas the pension cost may go down over time.

And we agree that that's a possibility, so what we agreed in that light is that we would -- and the actual text of the agreement goes through a little more detail, but basically that we would provide evidence -- well, provide demonstration, careful evidence, provide demonstration that the cost provided by Networks and actually charged to Remotes would be those costs that are used in the clearance of the RRRP account.  It is really just clarity that, you know, the pension costs are 

-- the pension costs we got were actually expensed.

In the original settlement agreement we listed the OSLP request.  What we had brought in the original agreement was to add two members to the customer advisory board.  I'll allow my colleagues to explain that a little more fully, but basically there is an advisory board that helps Remote, understands customers and its needs, and we had planned to add two members.

The RRRP account, no significant change there.  The only item that was raised was, as I'm sure the panel is aware, Hydro One Networks is currently in litigation regarding a major tax item from its last transmission filing.  That might have effects on Hydro One Remotes, and we agreed that that was possible.  Therefore, it was agreed that we would not discharge the RRRP account until either that matter is settled or the next full period.  The idea of being there if it takes an extremely long time to settle the tax issue, then we may clear the account at the next filing, but until it's settled we would leave that open.

Finally, on issue 5.4, what was proposed by the parties at the settlement was -- with regard to translation, was Remotes, who promised to maintain sufficient budget to allow for translation of all materials.

Now, if I can take you to the amendment, and I draw you to actually the same page, if it please the panel, for efficiency.  That would be page 11 of the amendment.  On page 11, as you can see, this is effectively the same page as we just looked at.

The two changes that were made as a result of the amendment are highlighted in bold and underlined on the right.  So I would draw your attention to 1.2(g), which is the OSLP request.

In the original amendment we would put TBD.  And in fact, in evidence we hadn't asked for any money for that.  However, the proposed settlement in the amendment was to hire a customer-service community-relations officer, which again, my colleagues can explain better exactly the nature of that role, but from a dollars-and-cents point of view the estimated cost of that role, including logistics, including program take-up and all-in costs, we estimate at 483,000, so that's a change, an increase to the amount.

Similarly, in issue 5.4, part and parcel to that, the 5.4 was the originally unsettled issue.  We have added, Remotes will hire a customer-service community-relations officer to promote programs in the 21 communities, and that would be an update to issue 5.4, which was then supported by all of the intervenors.

So the original Appendix A, we went through the costs on those.  The two changes are a 43 increase due to the hiring of that new role.  That, I think, summarizes the proposal, in terms of the settlement, in terms of at least its difference from the original evidence provided.

DR. ELSAYED:  The corrections that you pointed out before applied to the amendment as well?

MR. SMITH:  Yes, yes, sir.

DR. ELSAYED:  Anything else as far as the presentation is concerned?

MR. ENGELBERG:  Nothing else unless the Panel or the intervenors have questions.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay, I'll go to Mr. Millar now for questions from Staff.
Questions by Mr. Millar:

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, thank you very much, Mr. Chair.

Before I begin, the process we undertake today is of course entirely in your hands.  I would point out it would be very unusual for parties to a settlement to ask questions about the settlement in a hearing.

We've heard from Mr. Yauch, and I do appreciate this was an unusual process that got us here.  If you are inclined to allow him to ask questions, of course, that's your decision to make.  I do want to point out that once you've signed off on a settlement agreement, whether you had to hold your nose or not, you've accepted it, and I'm not sure what the point of questions would be, so I leave that for your consideration, but I do have a few questions from Staff.  As you are aware, Staff is not a party to the settlement agreement, and although we did file a letter in support of the original agreement, we only received the final version of the amended settlement Friday, so we do have a couple of questions.

So I will start with just the basics, and I'm asking only about the revisions to the settlement agreement.  The increase in costs for this new program is $483,000; is that correct?

MR. SMITH:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And that is, you've confirmed in the agreement, incremental to the amounts that were originally in the settlement?

MR. SMITH:  That's right.  That would be net increase.

MR. MILLAR:  So if we turn to page 11 of the, I guess it's the revised agreement, the page we were just discussing that shows the chart, you can see under 1.2(g), that's where you have the $483,000 noted?

MR. SMITH:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Do I take it that that would fall -- that's an O&M expense?

MR. SMITH:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And that would therefore fall under 1.2(a)?  That's where those costs would actually be?

MR. SMITH:  Ultimately -- I can actually look up the US of A accounts, but, yes, they are -- all the 1.2s are OM&A-related costs.

MR. MILLAR:  So let's call it half a million dollars just for the sake of convenience.

MR. SMITH:  Sure.

MR. MILLAR:  That would fall under there somewhere.

MR. SMITH:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And so if we look at the changes agreed to, it says a $1.5 million reduction.  Is it fair to say that that reduction is now closer now to $1 million?

MR. SMITH:  Yes, if you lump that up into 1.2(a), yes, the --


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So --


MR. SMITH:  -- net reduction would be about a million.

MR. MILLAR:  I understand what will probably happen at the end of the day is, I think the Panel will probably ask, or Staff will ask, for that matter, that the whole agreement be refiled with -- including the changes that you discussed today so everything is shown.

Would it be appropriate to change that number from 1.5 to -- whether it's 1- or $1.1 million; is that more accurate?

MR. SMITH:  I wouldn't say it's inaccurate.  Either way, you know.  We've listed a 1.5 reduction, which was the original agreed to reduction on the (a) items.  We broke out 1.2(g), but you are correct in that all the 1.2s collectively are O&M, so we could even lump all of them.  There is also the fuel cost reduction, there's the CDM reduction, et cetera.  All of those are various reductions which could all be lumped together, but your point, in terms of the reduction, 1.5, if you conclude that in there, that would effectively become approximately a $1 million reduction.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you for that.

I think we've already discussed this, but you can confirm that this entire incremental amount, that will be funded through the RRRP?

MR. SMITH:  Most likely.  I say it like that because the RRRP is the net of the actual after-the-fact expenses versus revenue.  We make estimates in terms of what we estimate that RRRP will be, but at the end of the day it depends upon the actual operations, the actual revenue.  Fuel cost, as you can see, is by far the biggest and often the most variable item, so if full costs go up 5 cents a litre, that has dramatic effects on the costs.  If it goes down 5 cents, then RRRP would be the beneficiary of that reduction --


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

MR. SMITH:  -- so if all the other estimates are exactly perfect, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  No, I understand.  Let me put it slightly differently.  This incremental increase of approximately half a million dollars, that won't change the rates you are charging to your customers; is that right?

MR. SMITH:  That's correct, the rates, as I'm sure Panel understands, the customer rates are set by a formula versus the previous rate, and the net is what goes to RRRP.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So OSLP won't be paying any additional money for this service; is that fair?

MR. SMITH:  All things being exactly equal, correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And Hydro One won't have to recover it from its customers either.  It would presumably come largely from the RRRP?

MR. SMITH:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Can we turn to page 8 of 11, please.  This is at the amended settlement agreement, though I think they line up.

I just have a few questions about the position.  There is some description here of what the position is and what the responsibilities are, and as I understand it is, you know, generally speaking to liaise with communities.  You have a couple of specific things.  If you look at that first bullet point, it is to improve customer understanding and knowledge of various programs that they're eligible for.  Is that a fair way of putting it?

MR. COULTER:  Yes, I believe that encompasses.

MR. MILLAR:  I take it then there must be some -- there is a problem that you are trying to address.  Are you concerned that people are not aware of some of the programs that they are eligible for, or whatever reason they are not signing up?

MR. COULTER:  Yes.  I think there is certainly some room to increase the uptake in a lot of those programs and expend the knowledge within the communities of what's available to them.

Certainly we do that on a regular basis.  But through our dialogue and discussions with OSLP, they represent 22 communities and the feedback that they're getting that there is room for improvement there.

MR. MILLAR:  What is it that the new person will be doing that you are not currently doing?

MR. COULTER:  I think they are going to be spending more time in the communities with that main focus in mind.  Currently, we only have really two people in our organization that are dedicated to customer care.  Like obviously, we all share that responsibility across the company, but it's really only our building department that’s totally dedicated to customer care presently.

So this would give us the opportunity to have a person in the community talking to not just end-use customers, but also the communities as a whole, and developing those relationships, getting that feedback and working with the communities in the locations to increase that knowledge.

MR. MILLAR:  Are there going to be any targets, or anything of that nature?  What are kind of the measures of success you're going to have for this position?

MR. COULTER:  I think ultimately, if we have the transparency to some of those numbers and we can see the uptake, then that would be a good indication of some degree of success.

I mean, I think what we're talking about here is relationship-building, so it is a little bit tough to kind of measure in that regard.  But certainly getting to those communities, getting there every year, having those conversations and, I guess, you know, through surveys and others, we hope to see an uptick in the response from customers that are involved in that process will help the success of the program.

MR. MILLAR:  But do you have any benchmarks or targets in mind for any particular thing, whether it be number of customer meetings, whether it be number of sign-ups for ODSP or LEAP, or something of that nature?

MR. COULTER:  We have visibility only to certain parts of that, obviously.  But the things we do have visibility in, we’ll certainly be developing that and take a look.

But I think certainly getting to every community and part of the costs, they are certainly related to the logistics.  I mean, getting into those communities is very expensive, so that's where you see the increase n costs associated with that.

So we haven't developed fully, I guess, the metrics involved.  We've put around what we'd like to see and what we hope to improve through the addition of this staff person, but we've yet to develop metrics specifically.

MR. MILLAR:  Maybe we can turn to page 9, please.  I guess on that same point, is there a formal job description yet?

MR. COULTER:  This is a new position, so we're developing it.  So we’ve got pieces obviously through the greater Hydro One.  There are obviously people who do different parts of this, but because we are so unique, we will be developing this job description.  So we looked at pieces that we’ve had in the past and things that we want to accomplish going forward, and we'll be creating that job description which will obviously encompass these objectives that we've laid out.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  But as of today, there is no normal job description.

If we look at -- there’s three bullet near the top of the page on page 9, and I'd like to go through those in detail.  It is a breakdown of the costs of the position.

So the first is a full-time staff member with an all-in total cost of $198,000, including salary and burden.

Just for the Panel's benefit and my benefit, what does -- what is encompassed under burden?

MR. COULTER:  That would be all of the overheads associated with the position.  So if you look at pension, holidays, client services, sickness, those kind of things all go into the burdened rate.  So there is obviously what the employee will get paid directly, and then all of those other costs that are associated with employees.

MR. MILLAR:  So that's the all-in cost, and includes pension?

MR. COULTER:  All-in, that’s right.

MR. MILLAR:  Do you know what the base salary is expected to be?

MR. COULTER:  There is a range.  We expect it to be what we consider an MP4 position.  But yes, it is a unionized position represented by the Society of Energy Professionals.  So we will have to go through the process of the detailed job description and the analysis to see where that falls in.

MR. SMITH:  We did share some cost with all the intervenors, an estimated breakdown, and it is about 120 would be the salary.

I believe it was about 57 was the burden and, as my colleague pointed out, that is primarily pension, benefits, et cetera, and the remainder is expected overtime.

All these positions, especially travelling positions like that to remote areas are expected to have some overtime calculated in.  So that's approximately the breakdown of that 198, if it's helpful.

MR. MILLAR:  Will this employee be a member of the PWU or the Society?

MR. SMITH:  Society.

MR. MILLAR:  And MP4, I have a vague recollection and understanding of that position.

Is there a description that goes with MP4?  What is incorporated in MP4?

MR. SMITH:  MP4 is a level of pay within our Society rates.  There is 1 through 6, and 4 doesn't have a description itself because the description is dependent upon the job.

MR. MILLAR:  Understood.

MR. SMITH:  The 4 is typically an advisor level, whereas 5 and 6 are senior advisors.

MR. MILLAR:  What's 3?

MR. SMITH:  I'm not sure we have many 3s.

MR. MILLAR:  Is MP4 the lowest position you have?

MR. SMITH:  No.  Again, 1s and 3s, they’re very rare.  2 is typical, and that would be more of a Society entry level.  The Society -- the MP part stands for management professional.

So the  MP6s, for example, typically are supervisory level.  It is more common in a field designation to have those, field level managers and such.  But a 2 is more of an entry level, 4 is more of a -- I'll say a middle level within the Society, and then 6 tends to be a supervisory form and type role.

MR. MILLAR:  So why can't this person be a 2, an MP2?

MR. COULTER:  Just reviewing what we expect the position to do, so it's all based -- the different levels escalate, I guess, based on the kind of scope and independence, if you will.  I think they’re probably the two main things.

So looking at what we want this person to accomplish, we feel that's pretty close as to where they'll land, just having some experience in the scaling and stuff.  But as we put those details in and then get it reviewed, then that will shake out.  But we are fairly confident that that will be, you know, pretty close to where we'll end up.  And we have some other MP4s obviously within the organization, so we have a feel for that, I guess.  But it is not a total exact science because other people weigh in depending on the description and where we land on the role as far as scope and responsibility and independence goes.

MR. SMITH:  If it's helpful, how those roles come about, there is actually a rating process.

As my colleague pointed out, we'll go through a detailed job description and through our human resources, they will literally rate that job.  And at the end of the day, they the ones that will determine the ultimate level.  Kraemer's estimation is that that will probably rate out as an MP4, and we can usually tell; so that's a fairly reliable estimate.

But in terms of a process, it actually has yet to be rated formally.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Let's look at the next bullet point, travel and logistical expenses.  I guess that's fairly self-explanatory.  That would be for flights, accommodation, that type of thing.  Is that right?

MR. SMITH:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And I take it that can't be covered in your existing logistics budget.

MR. COULTER:  No, it is an additional person, an additional program.  So obviously, all these costs will be built out over and above the actual salary so that the person can go it the communities and accomplish what we really want, and there is cost associated with that.

MR. MILLAR:  How did you build that number?

MR. COULTER:  We took a look at what's possible, what we thought was achievable and what we wanted to achieve.  So we based it with 20 -- we got 15 First Nations that we serve, we have got 13 fly-in communities.  So these communities are very difficult to get to and expensive.

So looking at our average flight costs, the number of flights we wanted that person to take, what we estimate would be the cost sharing with other programs is the basis of that.

So if you look at our average flight cost, it’s around $8 per nautical air mile.  So a typical flight to some of our territory is $6,000 one way.  So if you look at the sharing of cargo, passengers, to get to those communities, so that's what it's based on.  Those are the fundamentals.

MR. MILLAR:  Did you assume a certain number of visits to each community per year?

MR. COULTER:  We assumed 20 flights.

MR. MILLAR:  20 flights in total?

 MR. COULTER:   Yes.  So they will be able to make a combination of our fly-to communities and our drive-to communities.

MR. MILLAR:  Let's look at the third bullet.  So it says:

"Customer outreach program delivery and promotion expenses will be based primarily on customer take-up of the underlying programs, but total expenditures are estimated at $150,000."

I didn't quite understand that.  First of all, the underlying programs, are those not funded separately?  That's not part of the $500,000, is it?  Like, if you are talking about OESP or LEAP or something like that?

MR. COULTER:  That's right, yeah, so the funding of those are separate.  They come from other -- but the -- I guess the facilitation of those programs and the education which we are trying to accomplish obviously isn't, right, so our costs associated with those, and plus our internal is -- because this position is filling a gap in our service that we believe is there, so there is -- that's not accounted for in any other program funding, so for them to go to the community and talk about our billing and to understand our bill and our connection services and our conservation program, then there will be some costs associated with that.

And obviously if there are any disbursements within the communities on top of that -- because if you look at that cost and you think of First -- 15 First Nations, that's really $10,000 a community, so it doesn't take too long to really spend that kind of money.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, the travel and logistics are covered separately, as is the person's salary, so give me some examples of what that $150,000 would be spent on?

MR. COULTER:  So that could be promotional material going into the community, so to pay for that.  It could be hiring anybody in the community to support that, so for facilitating a community meeting.  It could be rental facilities within those communities, including rental trucks and those kind of things that are associated, because, I mean, these communities are, you know, not equipped, as we're used to, I guess, in other locations across the province, so the costs of living there are high and the costs of doing anything within those communities is substantial as well, so those kind of activities and those kind of disbursements.

MR. SMITH:  If it's helpful -- and my colleague may want to further comment, but I think it's important to understand that take-up of the programs like LEAP and that my friend was speaking to are very, very low in those communities in the north, and I know part of the request of OSLP with -- in speaking with our folks is just the sheer promotion, the boots on the ground, if you will, in those communities is expected to help take-up and help facilitate and make those programs available to the people in that community.

I don't know if you have any further comment on that, but it's -- you know, the -- we talk about take-up and the driving of that expense.  It's being in those communities and working with the community leaders and rolling those programs out to those people is -- well, it's very expensive in those remote areas, but the hope is that we can help customers take advantage of some of the programs that, frankly, they're probably just not even aware of at this time.

MS. O'REILLY:  Just to add a little bit to that, so we've done ads on OESP and LEAP on the radio.  We've put it into every bill insert.  We've added something to our bill.  We only have 169 customers who are benefiting from that program.  We know that our customers are probably the most economically disadvantaged in the province, so it's important that they find out about it.

In our evidence we did -- in one of our customer engagement sessions we had a discussion with community members, and they pointed out that they don't know about those programs.  People need to actually help them apply.  They need to ensure that all of the things are signed off, that they need to be there working with the local community members or they won't benefit from them.

For our LEAP program, for example, we have, I think it's $178,000 in LEAP grants that our customers have not accessed, and we know they'd be eligible for that program, most of them.

MR. MILLAR:  So if there has been bill inserts and advertising campaigns, there may have been -- do any other organizations do this?  I know the Board actually does some -- a bit of advertising on this type of thing.  I don't know that we target any communities that -- we may well not.  I don't know all the details of that.

Does INAC have any outreach on these types of programs?  Do the band council offices work to promote these programs?

MS. O'REILLY:  INAC hasn't been promoting the provincial programs.  The OEB has done quite a lot of advertising for these, but generally, in regions where there's media, you know, so in Thunder Bay, and our customers aren't part of that media market, so it's difficult to access them with the sort of regular, you know, media stuff that you guys would do.

There aren't local newspapers, so they wouldn't get the local newspaper ads.  Their first language isn't English in a lot of cases, so they don't -- there is an issue with it -- you guys did do some ads for OESP when it first came out on -- is it WAWATEE it's called?  On WAWATEE that were translated into the language.

So there was some initial kind of bump for that, but people -- somebody needs to actually go and work with the social-assistance office and help them sign up.

I don't know if this is true across the province, but in our case we worked with ONWA, who is the Board's provider for OESP.  They've gone up to the communities.  They get applications, but the application is a little bit difficult to do, because you apply online, but then you have to print it out, you have to mail it in.  It becomes a real barrier for our customers.

MR. MILLAR:  Ms. O'Reilly, I heard you say something 

-- and correct me if I've got the numbers wrong.  You said you had something like $128,000 budget for one of the programs that hadn't been claimed.  I missed part of that.  I was hoping you could repeat that?

MS. O'REILLY:  So LEAP, which we provide funding for through our revenue requirement every year, has -- our customers don't use the full amount.  So we have our ONWA, who is our service provider for that program, is sitting on $178,000 that customers haven't applied for.  And we do disconnect customers if they don't pay, so it just -- it seems like this kind of role would be helpful both in, you know, helping customers avoid service disconnection, but in making sure that they can actually apply for these things.

MR. MILLAR:  Is it worth spending $483,000 to assist in people picking up $178,000?

MR. COULTER:  Well, I think that's only part of the picture.  I think that's, you know, what we have visibility to do, and that's the program that we fund, and if you look at, I guess, the barrier for uptake in some of these programs, the application-based programs in particular, it speaks to that, so if we look at that and we think we've been funding, we also know that, you know, our billing department, who talks to everyone that phones in and enquires about their bill mentions the availability of LEAP and OESP, and still the uptake isn't there.  And what we're hearing from the communities is that they -- you know, the understanding isn't there, the awareness, the understanding, the difficulty going through the application process, that we felt it was necessary to do more in that regard to help these folks, I guess, go through that process and to assist.

Again, you know, it's been pointed out a couple of times, if you look at the economic disadvantaged position that these -- our customer base have in the province, that anything we can do is certainly appreciated and -- but there is certainly some barriers.  It takes a significant amount of effort to promote these kind of programs in a successful way.

MR. MILLAR:  This is -- I take it you envision this as a permanent position.  This is not a pilot project?  This is permanent?

MR. COULTER:  Yes, it is a permanent position we are proposing.  I think that, you know, through our experience with our customers -- and, you know, we've -- I think we're all engaged in providing the best customer experience possible, and I think that, you know, we've pointed the evidence of achieving a certain level of that, if you look at our surveys and, you know, 90 percent customer satisfaction overall, but I think that, you know, when we hear from the communities and the people and the organizations who represent them that there is more to be done, then I think that that's what's motivating us to try even harder and better to make sure that our customers are served the best that we can.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.  Those are my questions.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thanks, Mr. Millar.

We'll go to the Panel.  Ms. Velshi?
Questions by the Board:


MS. VELSHI:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  I'll start with OSLP.  Was there a reason why you weren't at the settlement conference that could have prevented all this last-minute running around?

MR. BOILEAU:  Yes, so I was booked to come represent OSLP at the settlement conference, and I got very sick the night before.  I was up all night, right through to the morning.  So rather than being there, we had some notes prepared that our team had put together and at that point, we thought the best way was to share that with the representatives at the settlement conference.

So those included our positions on each one of the items, so that was available for the team.  But it's basically because I was sick and the other two representatives were in other meetings.

So it is unfortunate because you are right, there’s a lot of discussion on process here.  But it is difficult to come down from Thunder Bay and when things like that happen and you get sick, it is not that easy to jump on a flight and come here and come back.

So we do apologize for that.  But at the same time, I think we think we recognize that there were certain issues that we brought up that wanted to make sure were important.

The fact that we weren't at the settlement conference, I think we conceded that we couldn't on all these points go in there and make our arguments the same way we could have, and there were settlements and reductions that because we weren't there, we weren't able to participate in and we do concede that because we weren't there, we didn't have that opportunity.

But at the same too much time, there were some issues that were so important that even though we weren’t there, we felt the need to keep them active from that point.  So I think it goes both ways when you’re not there.

MS. VELSHI:  Same question for VECC.  Do you share the same concerns that we heard from Energy Probe about the process and the numbers in the amendment?

MS. CHOW:  To be clear, VECC supports the amended agreement.  VECC intervened in the application to protect the interests of vulnerable First Nations electricity consumers.  So VECC agrees that the proposed program officer will improve community engagement and will help low income consumers better understand and take advantage of the programs to reduce their energy costs.

So VECC does not share the same concerns that Energy Probe does, but VECC does submit that the process could have been improved if OSLP had been present and participated in the settlement conference.

MS. VELSHI:  Thank you.  And I have a few questions for Hydro One.  Given the addition of your proposal of this new position, do you still need the two additional members on the customer advisory board?

MR. COULTER:  Yes, the customer advisory board provides a slightly different, I guess, avenue to pursue to get customer intake.

The addition just gives us, I guess, a lighter breadth.  Obviously, we have six -- yes, six, if you look at all the communities that we are trying to get representation across.  So we feel that it would only give us a better view, I guess, on what our customer base is saying across the province because they do vary quite a bit from community to community, and the incremental cost is a couple rather small, a couple of meetings a year, to have those and to basically cover the expenses for those people.

So we feel that's not a hardship to include and if we can get appropriate people to join, then we will just be all the better for it.

MS. VELSHI:  And just to confirm, you don't see any significant increase in costs as a result of adding the two members?

MR. COULTER:  No, I do not.

MS. VELSHI:  And with the addition of this customer service and community relation officer, were you helping to increase the uptake in different programs?

For the CDM programs where you’ve -- with the proposal actually reduced the amount from the original 112,000 to 61,000, is that a prudent thing to do, or do you expect a further uptake in the CDM programs as a result of this position and is the funding adequate?

MR. COULTER:  I think certainly there is potential for more uptake on those programs.  I guess we settled on the cost looking backwards of what's been available and effort, and we've been able to put thus far into that in the uptake that we've seen.  Certainly when having a dedicated person as part of their responsibilities, I would think that it's reasonable to assume that there would be more uptake.

I mean, certainly there’s other programs available that weren't for the last few years if you look at the affordability program, and certainly we will be looking to that to facilitate conservation measures in some of the communities as well, so the combination of.  But I think it is reasonable to assume that with that much ongoing effort, that there could possibly be some uptake in those programs which, I think, overall it’s hard to argue that uptake in a conservation program is not a good thing, although there could be some increased costs.  If you look, there is also -- particularly in the generation business, there is also reduced costs on the other side.

So if we are saving costs, fuel cost for example, then really it is a net zero situation.

MS. VELSHI:  Okay, and if this position is approved, when do you expect to have a person in the role?  How long do you think it would take to get someone on board?

MR. COULTER:  Hopefully, we have to go through the processes we talked about earlier of getting a job description together and going through the rating process and through the hiring process, and I'd like to think that it would be very soon.  But I think that, you know, it could quite possibly take a couple of months to find the right person and get them in place.  I would expect it will take at least that long.

MS. VELSHI:  And would you have any special language requirements for that role?

MR. COULTER:  No.  I think that primarily -- I mean, obviously, it would be of a benefit.  But our territory covers a wide range of dialects, so from community to community, it changes quite a bit from Ojibway to Cree to Woods Cree, so it would be pretty tough to cover everything certainly.

If you did have an understanding of one of those, it would be a benefit.  But I don't think we can dictate that.

MR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.  Mr. Janigan?

MR. JANIGAN:  I do have some questions, first on a capital program and the 10 percent reduction that the settlement includes.  I understand you didn't make that reduction on specific projects, but can you explain to me how you could accommodate a 10 percent reduction in your capital program?

MR. COULTER:  I think we looked at the whole process, our capital program looking backwards and, I mean, being a little bit different than other utilities, you know our rate base isn't totally based on putting capital in the service.  We are always making prudent decisions about what we have to do and what we can achieve.

One thing about our business that’s unique is that a lot of our capital programs come from federal funding, and their fiscal year is different than ours.  Ours will be March to March.  Depending on what's going on across the country, different funding becomes available at different times of the year and because of the impact that will have on our customers, we've always put that as a high priority. So that disrupts our normal -- what our planned capital program is.  So you will see from year to year quite a change in that.

But ultimately, the capital funding provided by the federal government is for incremental load growth.  We do like for like capital replacements within our program.  So as assets are getting old and aging, we replace them through our capital program.  But if there is an increase as the communities grow and there is a necessary -- a need for more load, then that's funded by the federal government.  But that is a bit of a lobbying effort and there is never quite certainty around those.

So that comes and flows at different times, depending on what the government and the available funding.

So it makes managing that a bit of a challenge at times, the total capital envelope, if you will.  But looking back, and that's been ongoing for a while and looking forward to what we think will happen, we felt that that would be manageable, given all that.

MR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  A similar question on the OM&A program.  My understanding is that the reduction was primarily because Hydro One Remotes have consistently under spent their OM&A in the past number of years; is that correct?

MR. COULTER:  Yes, I think that was a realization when looking back, and if you look at a small company with that kind of external influence.  So if you look at the federal government and the funding that they provide in having a very disruptive effect on our business.

So if we had capital work planned or OM&A planned, and this funding became available, and it would have -- we've got communities that are on connection restrictions, meaning that they can't build houses and connect to the system.  So ultimately, we make that our priority and we put everything aside to make sure that we can accommodate that.

So we get those big changes in our work flow and because it is such a small company, it really does show quite evidently.  If it was a larger company and you had a much larger program, I think it would smooth out.  But with us, it gets a little bit lumpy that way.

So that's been going on quite a bit for the last several years as the Federal funding has increased.

Prior to that, the funding wasn't flowing as it should have been, I think for quite a while.  There is lots of lobbying efforts, but the funding wasn't flowing to the degree that we expended, so there was pent-up demand.  So in the last five years in particular, we've done quite a bit of that work.  I think we had -- if we look at around eight communities, I think on connection restrictions, we've been able to take seven off during that period by utilizing that funding.

We only have one left, and we currently have a project in the stream to get that community off restrictions as well.

MR. SMITH:  And I might comment, and my colleague can comment further.  During the settlement agreement, our friends, we talked about larger increases, but one of the realities that's coming up is the community called the Pikangikum, which is sort of on the western side of our territory, and again, I'll ask -- comment further, but we anticipate that we will be taking over that area in the not too distant future, and we know that that's going to have some significant, at least in the early stages, significant O&M and other costs related to taking over that.

Part of the reality -- you've probably heard of Cat Lake and the ongoing saga with that.  It's -- we make -- you mentioned overspending.  Part of that relates to the uncertainty, but yet the expectation that there may be communities that we need to work with in that fashion, but I don't know if you want to talk about the Pikangikum at all, but...

MR. COULTER:  Well, no, my colleague makes a very good point, is if we project what we think is going to happen, obviously Cat Lake -- taking Cat Lake over is kind of a prime example with that.  It was on the plan.  So it is on the plan, and there is costs associated with that, then it doesn't happen, so obviously we didn't spend that money.

The Pikangikum is another one that we've been under negotiations for several years and thought that it would happen even quite a few years ago, but it looks like it will become a reality at the end of this year currently, because the funding is in place to build the line to connect them to the grid.

So, you know, as we look, and there's been lots of, I guess, speculation about transmission connection, obviously in our service territory as well, but most of that beyond the Pikangikum is probably beyond the five-year window, but those kind of uncertainties make it difficult to plan, to budget, and to execute that budget.

DR. ELSAYED:  Just a quick question on the customer advisory board, and you are proposing to add two more members, and you are saying that doesn't impact OM&A.  Can you explain why it doesn't impact?  Why doesn't the cost go up?

MS. O'REILLY:  There would be a minor impact.  It would be less than $10,000 for sure, so normally if we get people from a fly-in community, they would have a plane flight that would be -- it's around $1,000, because they do a sched flight, a couple of nights in a hotel, and an extra meal at the meeting.

DR. ELSAYED:  No, I understand that the board has six members now.  And am I correct in saying that five of those members are First Nations members?

MS. O'REILLY:  Yes.

DR. ELSAYED:  And do you -- am I correct also in saying that typically they meet twice a year, but they have only had one meeting in 2016 and no meetings in 2017?

MS. O'REILLY:  That's correct.

DR. ELSAYED:  Why is that?

MS. O'REILLY:  Because I am in charge of the customer advisory board and I was working on this application.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.

MS. O'REILLY:  Lost time.

DR. ELSAYED:  But the expectation is that you would typically have at least one or two meetings?

MS. O'REILLY:  We normally have two a year, so...

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.

MS. O'REILLY:  And if you look at the average over the five years, it was to -- with 2017 being just a bad year.

DR. ELSAYED:  So what are typical issues that come up in those meetings?

MS. O'REILLY:  Our customers are really interested in renewable energy.  That's -- when they are bringing things up on their own, that will be the main thing.  They are also very interested in how we train our operators in -- excuse me -- anything to do with kind of education, any ways that we can improve our sort of local economic development within communities, those types of things.

They also -- they'll raise issues to do with, like, customer-service kind of rub points around connections.  They were really concerned with the INAC funding constraints, because in one of the communities we have a member from Deer Lake, and they had built ten houses that sat empty and not connected to the system for two years until we got the funding to be able to connect those to the system, so it is those kinds of both, I guess, normal customer rub points that their bills, if you are a seasonal customer, which we have one, we were estimating bills rather than reading them, so you get that kind of stuff, but it is mostly around, how do we make our communities better.

DR. ELSAYED:  Now, in the future would you expect that person that you are proposing to add to be attending those meetings?

MS. O'REILLY:  Yes, the new customer-service --


DR. ELSAYED:  The new customer-service representative?

MS. O'REILLY:  Yes.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.

MS. O'REILLY:  I'd hoped that they would help organize them too, to be honest.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.

MR. SMITH:  [Not using mic]  ...especially since we are filing for...

DR. ELSAYED:  By the way, I don't know if somebody mentioned it, but in the settlement proposal, page 7, there is a typographical error.

MS. O'REILLY:  Yes.

DR. ELSAYED:  Are you aware of that?

MS. O'REILLY:  Yes.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  That needs to be corrected.

MS. O'REILLY:  We made an adjustment to it.  I think Jeff was going to speak to it.  There is a mistake on the remote rate protection?

DR. ELSAYED:  No, no, no, if you go to --


MR. SMITH:  You are correct.  It is seven -- about the fourth or fifth paragraph, yeah:
"The overall financial impact of the settlement agreement is to reduce total revenue requirement by $3.383 million."

That should be "from 56.689".

DR. ELSAYED:  Right.

MR. SMITH:  A 6 got mixed in there.

DR. ELSAYED:  That is the correction.

MR. SMITH:  To 53,306.

DR. ELSAYED:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  Our apologies for that typo.

DR. ELSAYED:  I just want to make sure that when you submit your revised --


MR. SMITH:  Yes.

DR. ELSAYED:  -- document that correction is made as well.

In terms of the amendment, I just want to go back to a question that Mr. Millar asked.  When you come back before the Board, and having a significant budget for that position that you're proposing, I know that some of the benefits are qualitative in nature, but you've talked about uptake in programs, you've talked about other benefits that, in my mind, can easily be measured.

Would you be expecting -- I certainly expect that the Board would be expecting you in your next application to show quantitatively and qualitatively the benefits of this position.  Is that something that you plan to track?

MR. COULTER:  Well, certainly I think that anywhere we can, that if, you know, if there's clear ways that we can demonstrate the value that the position brought, then I think we'd obviously point to that.

I thinks that true within the entire business, obviously, you know, what we are trying to achieve, and if you can find clear metrics to support that, then that makes a lot of sense, obviously.

So just because we are sort of new in the process and it was done, I guess, relatively quick and a lot of thought put -- a lot of thought put into it, but also in a relatively short period of time.  And if the position isn't quite that defined yet, that we wouldn't want to get ahead of ourselves, but I think that when we look at kind of the things we want to achieve, then obviously if we can have visibility to do that and we can measure that, then that does -- will speak volumes about the success of the role.

DR. ELSAYED:  By the way, would you advertise for that both externally and internally, or, like, do you -- how do plan to fill that position?

MR. COULTER:  The process is usually internal first, so depending if we get appropriate candidates, and then go external after.

MR. SMITH:  And that is governed by our collective bargaining agreement with the Society, so...

DR. ELSAYED:  Yes.  For the Society, yes.

Okay, these are all my questions.  What I suggest we do now is take a short break, maybe until eleven o'clock, and we'll resume then.  Thank you.
--- Recess taken at 10:43 a.m.

--- On resuming at 11:00 a.m.

MR. ELSAYED:  Mr. Millar, I understand you have a submission to make on the amended settlement?

Submissions by Mr. Millar:


MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.

As you are aware, Board Staff did file their letter approving the original settlement.  But I can now tell you that we are not opposed to the amended settlement either.

We do think the timing is a bit unfortunate here.  It would have been preferable to have a complete settlement agreement filed formally on the record prior to Friday.  That might have given parties a bit more time to explore some of the issues and the cost associated with this position.

But we are where we are, and we did have an opportunity to ask questions and we got some helpful responses.  So we are not opposed to the amended agreement.

I do want to note that Board Staff, and presumably other parties and the Board, will be looking very carefully at this position in the next case involving Hydro One Remotes, both the cost and the results of the program or position, or whatever you want to call it, to ensure that it's providing actual value for the money being spent, which is not insignificant.

But again, we are not opposed to the amended settlement.  So thank you.
DECISION:

MR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.  And I just want to echo the fact that we live and learn, I guess, and there are a number of lessons that were learned in this case in terms of timing.

On behalf of the Panel as well, I would have to say that receiving the amended settlement on Friday and then having an issue raised this morning wasn't very helpful. But again, we hopefully would do everything possible to avoid those kind of circumstances in future applications.

Having said that, the Panel discussed the proposed settlement and the amendment and decided to approve them.  We do require, however, that Hydro One Remotes resubmit these documents as soon as possible with the corrections that have been pointed out today.

We also would ask that Hydro One Remotes submits a draft rate order by the 26th, Monday.  Is that doable, a week from today?

MR. ENGELBERG:  Yes, it is, Mr. Chair.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  Now, for the corrected settlement proposal and the amendment, you can either submit them on the same date or prior to that, but no later than the 26th.

MR. ENGELBERG:  I would think that the corrected document would be submitted by the end of the day today, or perhaps tomorrow morning.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay, that will be fine.  So the draft rate order by the 26th.

I would also ask that any comments on the draft rate order by the parties be provided to the Board by April 3rd, keeping in mind, I guess, the long weekend that we have, and that Hydro One Remotes respond to those comments by April 9th.

Is that okay with everyone?  Okay, any further comments or questions by anyone?

I would like to thank everybody for being here today, and for the panel answering our questions.  And we are adjourned.  Thank you.
--- Whereupon the hearing concluded at 11:05 a.m.
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